WHITE’S HISTORY, GAZETTEER AND DIRECTORY OF STAFFORDSHIRE, 1851

Alstonfield, or Alstonefield, is a village of well-built houses, picturesquely seated on a western declivity above Dovedale, 10 miles E. of Leek, and 6 miles N. by W. of Ashbourne.  It has a good inn, for the accommodation of tourists, who come hither to view the wild and romantic scenery of this neighbourhood, which equals in grandeur many of the most celebrated scenes in Derbyshire; from which county the extensive Parish of Alstonfield is separated by the river Dove, from its source near Flash, southward to the vicinity of Ilam, a distance of nearly 15 miles.  The Hamps, and its tributary streams, flow from the high moorlands and rocky hills, through the deep secluded valleys of this widely – spread parish, which contains only about 4700 inhabitants, though it has about 24,000 acres of land in its nine townships, etc., of which the following are the names, with the number of acres in each:- Alstonfield, 2995; Lower Elkstone, 1000; Upper Elkstone, 2000; Fawfield Head, 7000; Heathylee, 5487; Hollinsclough, 1839; Longnor, 787; Quarnford, 2000; and Warslow, 2000.   Their population in 1841 is stated at page 718, where it will be seen that all the parish is in Leek Union, except Alstonfield township, which was incorporated under Gilbert’s Act, with Butterton, Grindon and Wetton, for the support of their poor, about 34 years ago.  These four incorporated townships have their Workhouse at Alstonfield, for about 50 paupers.  Mr Geo. White is clerk to the incorporated townships, and Thomas Brindley is master of the Workhouse.  Upwards of 3870 acres of waste land in Alstonfield parish was enclosed about 15 years ago, when the tithes were commuted for allotments of land worth £400 a year to the impropriator, and £300 a year to the Vicar, except in Longnor and Upper Elkstone, where the waste land was enclosed many years before.  Warlsow and Upper and Lower Elkstone form one township, and the other six are separate townships.  Four of them are Chapelries, viz., Longnor, (a market town,) Warslow, Elkstone, and Quarnford.  There is a new Chapel of Ease at Hollinsclough.  Sir J. H. Crewe, Bart., is impropriator of the great tithes, patron of the vicarage, principal owner of the land, and lord of the manor of the whole parish, except Upper Elkstone, of which the Duke of Devonshire is lord; and the Beresford Hall estate, in Fawfield Head, of which Viscount Beresford is lord.  The vicarage, valued in K. B. at £8. 13s.  4d., and now at £300, is in the incumbency of the Rev. John Simpson, D. D., who is also rural dean of Alstonfield, (see page 42,) and has a good Vicarage House with pleasant grounds.

   The parish Church (St. Peter,) stands at the south end of the village of Alstonfield, and is a handsome Gothic structure, with a strong tower, adorned with pinnacles, and containing a clock and three bells.  The large east window is partly blocked up, and over it is the date 1590; but the edifice appears to be of greater antiquity.  In the village is a Wesleyan Chapel, built in 1824, and in Milldale is a Primitive Methodist Chapel, erected in 1835. Alstonfield township contains 2995 acres, and 654 souls.  The following are its hamlets, and their distances from the village:- Gatam, 1 mile W.; Hope, ½ mile S.W.; Milldale, on the Dove, at the opening of two narrow, but deep and romantic glens, ¾ mile S.E.; Stanshope, on an eminence, 1 mile S.; and Narrowdale, 1 mile N.W. The latter is remarkable for the high rocks by which it is so closely enclosed, that the inhabitants never see the sun during the quarter when it is nearest the tropic of Capricorn; and during the rest of the year they do not see it till about one o’clock, which they call the Narrowdale noon.  Indeed , the rocks in this neighbourhood, many of which are of a surprising height, and sometimes towering above the clouds in wet weather, give an air of sublimity to the scene beyond description grand and awful; whilst the mountain streams afford excellent sport for the angler, especially the Dove, which is skirted by fertile pastures, and abounds with trout, grayling, and other fish.  Alstonfield wake is on the Sunday after St. Peter’s day.  Henry Jackson, in 1702, bequeathed to the poor of that part of the parish lying below Archford Bridge, £100, which, in 1705, was laid out in 13 acres 2 roods 12 perches of land, in Waterfall parish, called the Heald, and now let for about £20 per annum, which is distributed in February.  German Pole, in 1725, left the interest of £40 to the School at Alstonfield, and of £20 to the poor.  The schoolmaster also receives a yearly gift of £5 from Sir J. H. Crewe, and the rent of 30 acres enclosed form the waste, and given by the late Sir H. H. Crewe for the education of 30 free scholars.  The present School is a neat stone building, which was erected by subscription in 1842.


ALSTONFIELD
Marked 1 reside at Gatam, 2 Hope, 3 Load, 4 Mill dale, 5 Narrow dale, 6 Paddock, 7 Stanshope, 8 West side, and the others in Alstonfield.

The Post Office is at Mr. James Hambleton’s.  Letters despatched by horse post to Ashbourne.

3 Adams William, corn miller
Adams Richard, grocer and draper

Austin James, blacksmith

Berrisford Samuel, smith, and Mr. Anthony

Bosley William, butcher

Brindley Thomas, master of Workhouse

Brindley William, linen weaver

Chadwick Mr Thomas

Dewe Miss

Fearn Mr Ralph

2 Hambleton Solomon

Hambleton James, grocer and draper

4 Hambleton Samuel and William, masons

2 Hambleton William, weaver

Hawley James, cattle dealer

Johnson Ellen, schoolmistress

Kilvert John and Mrs., boarding school

Malpass James, tailor

4 Marsh Joseph, corn miller

Massey Bartholomew, cheese factor

Mellor Miss E.

White Mrs. Elizabeth

Millward William, victualler, Red Lion

Prince Charles, gamekeeper

Roper Henry Charles, land agent, etc.

Simpson Rev. John, D. D., vicar and rural dean, Vicarage

Simpson Miss Arabella

Smith William, butcher

White Geo., auctioneer, clerk to the guardians, and victualler, George Inn
Woodisse Mr. Joseph John

Yates George, butcher and victualler, Crewe and Harpur Arms


Farmers


(* are Owners)

5 Adams George

Adams John

3 Adams William

Allen Joseph

4 Austin Anthony

Bagshawe William

1 Bassett Judith

Beardmore John

7 *Beardmore Ralph

1 Berrisford Ellen

Berrisford Frances

7 Berrisford George

Bestwick James

Bestwick Thomas

8 Bonsall John

5 *Bonsall Thomas

1 Cantrill Mary A.

Gibbs Mary A., Hall

2 Hambleton John (beerhouse)

Hayes William

Hope Peter

7 Lees Benjamin

3 Lomas Richard

4 Marsh Joseph

Massey Bartholomew

2 Mellor John

*Mellor Richard

8*Mellor William

Milward Ann

6 Needham Thomas

Phillips Ellen

2 Rowland James

Stones Samuel

7 White John

2 Wood Jarvis and John

Woodisse Ralph

2 Woodisse Thomas


Joiners, etc


(*Wheelwrights)

2 Bestwick John

2 Bestwick Thomas

*Bestwick Ralph

2 Bestwick Robert

Massey William

*Mycock John

*Seddon Richard (and parish clerk)

*Woodisse Elizabeth


Sawyers

Chadwick George

Chadwick John

Doughty Joseph


Shoemakers

4 Austin Anthony

Brindley Joseph

Fearn Thomas

Hawley Samuel

4 Hill Charles

Hill William

Johnson Thomas

Stones John


Tailors

Malpass James

4 Mather Samuel

Wright William

